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INTRODUCTION

In their brief opposing the defendants’ motions to dismiss,* the Plaintiffs misinterpret the
holdings of controlling cases, overlook binding authority that cannot be squared with their
claims, and fail to address (much less rebut) many of the arguments advanced by the Local
Government Defendants and the Non-Profit Defendants (“Local Defendants™) in the brief filed in

support of their motion to dismiss. Nothing in the Plaintiffs’ brief establishes the viability of

! The Plaintiffs’ Memorandum of Law in Opposition to Defendants’ Motions to Dismiss is
referred to herein as “the Plaintiffs” brief” and cited as “Pls.” Br. at __.” The Local Government
Defendants and Non-Profit Defendants’ opening brief is referred to as “Local Defendants’ brief”
and cited herein as “Defs.” Br.at _.”



their claims so as to avoid dismissal under N.C. R. Civ. P. 12. Therefore, the Local Defendants’
motion to dismiss should be granted.

In this Reply Brief, the Local Defendants will not re-argue all of the points made in their
opening brief, but rather will focus on the principal arguments in the Plaintiffs’ brief which
require correction or clarification. The Court is respectfully referred to Local Defendants’
opening brief for a complete discussion of their position on all pertinent issues.

A. The Incentives Satisfy the Public Purpose Clause as Interpreted in the Maready
Case.

First and foremost, the Plaintiffs in their brief seek to re-write the opinion of the North
Carolina Supreme Court in Maready v. City of Winston-Salem, 342 N.C. 708, 467 S.E.2d 615
(1996). The Plaintiffs assert that “Maready stands only for the single principle that N.C.G.S.
158-7.1 is facially constitutional,” and that “[a]t no time does the case specifically address the
constitutionality of N.C.G.S. 158-7.1 as applied to each of the individual grants or subsidies” at
issue there (many or most of which are identical to the types of incentives involved in the present
case). Pls.” Br. at 57. These assertions are not borne out by a plain reading of the opinion. In
fact, Maready held not only that § 158-7.1 is constitutional and does not violate the Public
Purpose Clause, but also that (1) the specific incentive grants and subsidies made in that case
pursuant to the statute were constitutional and a reasonable exercise of the power of local
governments and (2) §158-7.1 permits local governments to decide what incentives
encompassed by the broad language of that statute best serve the needs of each local community
in accomplishing its economic development goals.

First, contrary to the Plaintiffs’ argument, it is simply incorrect to assert that the Supreme
Court decided Maready on only facial grounds, and that the Court did not address the

constitutionality of the specific incentives at issue there. The complaint in Maready sought, in
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addition to a declaration that § 158-7.1 was unconstitutional on its face, an alternative declaration
that “[e]ven if Section 158.7.1 is constitutional, it has not been complied with by the City and
County” in connection with the specific incentives granted at issue in that case. (Maready
Compl., 1 13; a copy of the Complaint in Maready is attached as Exhibit A.) Moreover, the
Supreme Court’s opinion itself indicated that Mr. Maready “challenge[d] twenty-four economic
development incentive projects entered into by the City or County pursuant to N.C.G.S. § 158-
7.1.” Maready, 342 N.C. at 713, 467 S.E.2d at 619 (emphasis added). Further, the Court
explained that the Maready plaintiff sought “a mandatory injunction to require the City and
County to recover incentive grants from the recipients thereof,” id. at 712, 467 S.E.2d at 618—a
remedy wholly inconsistent with the Plaintiffs’ assertion that the case involved only a facial
challenge.

This reading of the Court’s opinion is confirmed by the dissent in that case. The
dissenting opinion by Justice Orr expressly opined that “N.C.G.S. § 158-7.1, as broadly

interpreted and applied by the majority, is unconstitutional on its face and as applied.” Id. at

736, 467 S.E.2d at 632 (Orr, J., dissenting) (emphasis added). Indeed, included in the dissenting
opinion is a lengthy chart, incorporating the trial court’s factual findings, that analyzes each of
the 24 specific incentive grants challenged in the case. Id. at 736, 467 S.E.2d at 632 (Orr, J.,

dissenting). Among the economic incentives that Justice Orr criticized the majority for

approving were “on-the-job training,” “construction of a road,” “site improvements,” “site
grading and preparation,” and “spousal relocation assistance.” Id. This lengthy discussion in
Justice Orr’s dissent would have been wholly superfluous if the only issue before the Court were

a facial challenge to the constitutionality of the statute.



Faced with the unfavorable (from the Plaintiffs’ perspective) Supreme Court holding in
Maready, the Plaintiffs turn to numerous cases decided before Maready, some going back to the
1800s. Pls.” Br. at 57-63. But it is Maready, and not the earlier cases that were limited by it, that
controls whether economic development incentives constitute a public purpose.  And,
irrespective of the language in the earlier cases, Maready makes plain that economic
development is an appropriate public purpose under the Public Purpose Clause of the North
Carolina Constitution. The Court explained that “[t]he enactment of NCGS 158-7.1 leaves no
doubt that the General Assembly considers expenditures of public funds for the promotion of
local economic development to serve a public purpose.” Maready, 342 N.C. at 714, 467 S.E.2d
at 619. The Maready Court recognized that “ an expenditure does not lose its public purpose
merely because it involves a private actor.” 1d. at 724, 467 S.E.2d at 625. It found that “[t]he
public advantages [of economic incentives] are not indirect, remote or incidental; rather, they are
directly aimed at furthering the general economic welfare of the people of the communities
affected.” Id. at 725, 467 S.E.2d at 625. And it held that “cities and counties have authority to
exercise broad discretion within statutory limits.” Id. at 728, 467 S.E.2d at 625.

Moreover, the Plaintiffs’ reliance on the pre-Maready cases is mistaken for another
reason: those cases predate the 1973 constitutional amendment that added Article V, Section
2(7) to the North Carolina Constitution. That provision, as Maready explained, “specifically
allow[ed] direct appropriations to private entities for public purposes.” 1d. at 720, 467 S.E.2d at
625. Rejecting reliance on the earlier cases of Mitchell v. North Carolina Industrial
Development Financing Authority, 273 N.C. 137, 159 S.E.2d 745 (1958), and Stanley v.
Department of Conservation & Development, 284 N.C. 15, 199 S.E.2d 641 (1973), the Maready

Court explained that, as a result of that amendment, “the Court’s focal concern” in the earlier
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cases, “the means used to achieve economic growth,” was “removed by constitutional
amendment. . . . Hence, the constitutional problem under the public purpose doctrine that the
Court perceived in Mitchell and Stanley no longer exists.” Maready, 342 N.C. at 720, 467
S.E.2d at 623 (emphasis added).

In short, any fair reading of Maready establishes that it specifically approved the very
types of incentives challenged by the Plaintiffs here and that it cannot plausibly be read to limit
its holding to a facial challenge. Thus, Maready is directly applicable to the present case and is
controlling as to most if not all of the issues raised as to the Local Defendants.

B. The Local Government Defendants Have Not Contracted Away Their Taxing
Power.

The Plaintiffs argue that by passing the Resolutions approving the local incentives for the
Dell project, the Local Government Defendants have bound future Winston-Salem and Forsyth
County governments for at least fifteen years to “lessen or eliminate Dell’s property taxes.” Pls.’
Br. at 85-86. Plaintiffs argue that this violates Article V, Section 2(1), claiming that the Local
Government Defendants have contracted away the taxing power. Id. To begin with, the
Plaintiffs present no authority in support of their assertions that the incentives—payments made
from the City and County’s general funds, and which are earned by Dell pursuant to specified
benchmarks—represent “tax rebates.” As noted in the Local Defendants’ brief (Defs.” Br. at 20),
but ignored by the Plaintiffs, if such a position were correct then every payment by a
municipality to one of its taxpayers would represent a tax rebate. Such a result comports with

neither the law nor common sense. In their entire argument seeking to establish that the



incentives represent “tax rebates,” the Plaintiffs cite not one case, not one statute, not one law
review article, indeed not one piece of legal authority of any kind.?

In fact, under the Agreement, Dell pays its full taxes each year (even if the tax rate
increases). It is eligible to earn annual incentive grants in amounts fixed in the Agreement if it
reaches defined benchmarks regarding jobs and capital investment, but does not get the grants if
the benchmarks are not achieved. This does not constitute a “tax rebate.”

In any event, even if the incentives were structured as tax rebates (which is not factually
the case here), they still would be constitutional under Bailey v. State, 348 N.C. 130, 500 S.E.2d
54 (1998). In Bailey, the Court—in an opinion joined without comment by Justice Orr—
expressly held that, under Article V, Section 2, “the State is empowered to enter into contracts
for tax exemptions.” 1d. at 148, 500 S.E.2d at 64. While the Plaintiffs spend a remarkable 11
pages of their brief attacking Bailey as wrongly decided (primarily using out-of-state cases), the
holding in that case of course remains binding on lower courts until overruled by the Supreme
Court. See State v. Gillis, 158 N.C. App. 48, 53, 580 S.E.2d 32, 36 (2003) (holding that inferior
courts are bound by the holdings of the North Carolina Supreme Court, which is the only entity
with the power to disavow its prior rulings). Therefore, Count 19 of the Amended Complaint
should be dismissed.

C. Economic Incentives That Satisfy the Public Purpose Clause Do Not Violate the
Exclusive Emoluments Clause.

The Plaintiffs argue that the determination whether a statute satisfies the Exclusive

Emoluments Clause, Article I, section 32, requires a different analysis from that required by the

% The Plaintiffs cite to an outdated version of Black’s Law Dictionary. Pls. Br. at 99 (citing 5th
edition of Black’s Law Dictionary). The current edition of Black’s Law Dictionary, however,
defines “tax refund” and “tax rebate” as “[m]oney that a taxpayer overpaid and is thus returned
by the taxing authority.” Black’s Law Dictionary 1502 (8th ed. 2004) (emphasis added).
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Public Purpose Clause. Pls.” Br. at 69-70. Although the Plaintiffs’ brief purports to undertake “a
comprehensive examination of case law in North Carolina applying Article I, section 32,” id. at
71, it fails to cite, let alone address, a quite recent appellate case applying the Exclusive
Emoluments Clause, Peacock v. Shinn, 139 N.C. App. 487, 533 S.E.2d 842 (2000). In Peacock,
the Court of Appeals held the same factors that established that economic incentives had a public
purpose and therefore did not violate the Public Purpose Clause also established that those
incentives did not represent an exclusive emolument. Id. at 496, 533 S.E.2d at 848. That
principle applies fully here and requires dismissal of the Plaintiffs’ Exclusive Emoluments
Clause claim.

The Plaintiffs’ failure to discuss Peacock is telling for another reason—the financial
incentives provided to the business in that case were much more tenuously tied to concrete
public benefits, and came with fewer safeguards to ensure that the public benefits actually
materialized, than do the economic development incentives provided to Dell by the City and
County. At issue in Peacock was payments by the City of Charlotte to the owners of the
Charlotte Hornets. The city had agreed to pay the owners 50% of the Charlotte Coliseum
parking, food and beverage profits from Hornets’ home games; $400,000 of the Coliseum’s first
$2 million in profits (no matter the source); and 80% of the profits over $2 million. Peacock,
139 N.C. App. at 496, 533 S.E.2d at 848. The public benefit and public services found by the
Court of Appeals in Peacock were the “City’s operation of a public auditorium/coliseum” and
“the City’s economic development through use of the Coliseum by a successful, competitive
home basketball team.” Id. at 495, 533 S.E.2d at 848. In sustaining the legality of the incentives
under the Exclusive Emoluments Clause, the Court of Appeals did not consider the number of

jobs created as a result of the incentives, the salary paid to the workers employed as a result of
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the incentives, the financial investment (if any) required by the team owners in order to obtain
the incentives, or even the existence of a requirement that the Hornets remain in Charlotte for a
definite period or else have to return the incentives the owners received. By contrast, the
Agreement in the present case requires Dell to create 1,700 jobs paying at least $28,000 per year,
to make a $100 million taxable investment, to pay its taxes, and to remain in Forsyth County at
least 15 years. Thus, in Peacock the public benefits were much less clear than they are here and
the commitments by the recipients non-existent compared to those here. For this reason, if the
Peacock incentives did not constitute an exclusive emolument under the facts of that case, then
surely the economic development incentives provided to Dell present no constitutional
difficulties under Article 1, section 32.

D. The Local Incentives are Authorized by N.C. Gen. Stat. § 158-7.1.

The Plaintiffs devote one paragraph in their brief explaining why the incentives provided
to Dell are not authorized by Section 158-7.1. Pls.” Br. at 74-75. Although they quote the
statutory language, they choose to ignore its plain meaning. While Section 158-7.1 describes
some specific types of economic incentives, it also provides broad authorization for local
governments to provide incentives for “other purposes which, in the discretion of the governing
body of the city or of the county commissioners of the county, will increase the population,
taxable property, . . . and business prospects of any city or county.” N.C. Gen. Stat. § 158-7.1(a)
(emphasis added). Pursuant to this provision, the General Assembly provided cities and
counties, not the courts, with the discretion to determine whether incentives would “increase the
population, taxable property, . .. and business prospects.” The City and County here concluded
that the incentives provided in the Agreement would serve these purposes. The Plaintiffs’ brief

presents no showing of law or fact to support a finding of abuse of such statutory discretion.
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While the Plaintiffs focus on the benefits that Dell will receive, they wholly fail to discuss the
immense benefit that the Dell facility has provided and will continue to provide to the citizens of
Winston-Salem and Forsyth County. Indeed, “Dell has surpassed its goal of having at least 750
employees within a year of starting production Oct. 5,” and by early May, Dell “will have a local
work force of nearly 1,000.” Richard Craver, Dell Keeps Focus Clear, Winston-Salem J., April
6, 2006, at D1 (attached as Ex. B).

The Local Defendants submit that the broad discretion provided by Section 158-7.1(a) in
itself establishes that all incentives provided in the Agreement were appropriate and that the
Plaintiffs’ arguments to the contrary about specific incentives are without merit. For example,
the Plaintiffs assert that “there are the direct monetary grants to Dell that in essence reimburses
[sic] Dell for the purchase of the land in its entirety in the aggregate amount of $7,000,000.”
Pls.” Br. at 75. The Local Defendants explained at length in their opening brief why the
Amended Complaint’s allegations regarding the land sale were insufficient as a matter of law.
Defs.” Br. at 25-27. The Plaintiffs failed to address, let alone rebut, any of those arguments.
Their conclusory, one-sentence assertion in their brief that the land sale was not authorized by
statute simply is insufficient.

The Plaintiffs further argue, once again in a single sentence, that the annual incentive
grants provided under the Agreement “essentially reimburse Dell for the property taxes paid by
Dell.” Pls.” Br. at 75. The Plaintiffs’ brief ignored the reasons set forth in the Local Defendants’
brief (Defs.” Br. at 23-24) for why this argument is wrong, and indeed in their brief the Plaintiffs
repeatedly misstate how the annual incentive grants work. The annual incentive grants do not
provide tax refunds. Dell will receive the grants only if, and to the extent, it meets the four

conditions specified in the Agreement for job creation and capital investment: Dell must make at
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least a $100 million taxable investment; create and maintain at least 1,700 jobs at $28,000 per
year; keep current its annual tax obligations to the City and County; and keep the plant open for
fifteen years. (Am. Compl., Ex. H.) Dell’s property tax payments will always exceed the size
of the grants, and Dell is required to make those tax payments whether or not it qualifies for or
receives the grants. Moreover, nothing in the Agreement prevents the City and County from
increasing the property tax rate, in which event Dell, like all other taxpayers, would pay the
additional taxes, but the annual incentive grants for which Dell would be eligible as set forth in
the Agreement would remain the same, without increase.

Finally, the Plaintiffs concede that the grants for site preparation “might be authorized”
under the statute. Pls.” Br. at 75. The Agreement specifies that the Local Government
Defendants will provide $14.5 million for the following site preparation: finished graded site;
rough graded parking; street and other improvements; utility connections; vehicle and tractor
trailer parking areas; trailer storage yard; security fencing; site lighting; storm water filtration;
electrical feeders; site generators; telecommunications conduits; widening roads; constructing
new roads; and installing traffic signals. (Am. Compl.,, Ex. H at 3-4.) Each of these

expenditures is specifically authorized by N.C. Gen. Stat. § 158-7.1(b), which provides that the

Lt 11 LR 11

City and County may fund “utility facilities,” “utility services,” “water and sewer lines,” and
may otherwise “engage in site preparation for industrial properties.” N.C. Gen. Stat. § 158-
7.1(b)(5-7).

Notwithstanding their apparent concession that the site preparation grants are specifically

authorized by statute, the Plaintiffs claim that they are entitled to an expenditure-by-expenditure

® Moreover, the General Assembly made clear that “[t]his listing is not intended to limit by
implication or otherwise the grant of authority set out in subsection (a) of this section.” N.C.
Gen. Stat. § 158-7.1(b).
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inquiry by the Court because such grants total $14.5 million. Pls.” Br. at 75. As explained
above, the Agreement itself requires that this amount be used solely for site preparation, and the
Amended Complaint contains no allegation (nor would the facts support such allegations) that
the Local Governments Defendants or Dell are using these funds for other purposes. For these
reasons, Count 21 of the Amended Complaint should be dismissed.

E. The Plaintiffs’ Due Process and Equal Protection Arguments Impermissibly
Second-Guess the Judgment of the Local Government Defendants.

The Plaintiffs argue that the local incentives are not rationally related to what they
concede is a legitimate government interest, “encouraging job growth.” Pls.” Br. at 111. The
Plaintiffs acknowledge that “our courts have traditionally deferred to the legislative judgment in
reviewing equal protection challenges of an economic nature and all doubts are resolved in
support of the act.” Id. at 112. The Plaintiffs fail to mention, however, that the Local
Government Defendants’ legislative judgment about how best to promote economic growth in
the City and the County will satisfy the rational basis test if it is “conceivable” or *“at least
debatable that the judgment is correct.” See Defs.” Br. at 17. The Plaintiffs make no attempt to
negate potential rationales that the Local Government Defendants may have had in enacting the
challenged Resolutions. Instead, they offer merely the conclusory assertion that the Local
Government Defendants acted irrationally by “diminishing the tax revenue available to the City
and County.” Pls.” Br. at 121. Even were this assertion true it would not establish the
irrationality of the incentives provided to Dell, because every expenditure of funds by the Local
Government Defendants “diminish[es] the tax revenue available” for other purposes. The
question is whether it is “conceivable” or “at least debatable” that the benefits of such incentives
outweighs the costs in terms of foregone uses of the money at issue—and nothing in the
Plaintiffs” brief satisfies the heavy burden placed on those who would substitute their judgment
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for that of representatives elected by the people. See Lowe v. Tarble, 313 N.C. 460, 461, 329
S.E.2d 648, 650 (1985). The fact that virtually every State in the Nation, and thousands of
municipalities, provide such incentives to attract businesses (and the concomitant jobs and
economic development) by itself establishes that the incentives provided to Dell have a rational
basis.

Moreover, the Plaintiffs’ conclusory assertion that the incentives provided to Dell
“diminish[] the tax revenue available to the City and County” has no support in the allegations of
the Amended Complaint or the documents attached thereto. Rather, as the Plaintiffs themselves
note, the incentives provided to Dell may in no event be larger than the property taxes paid by
Dell—property taxes that would be non-existent without the incentives. In fact, therefore, the
incentives are a net positive for the City and County treasuries even without consideration of all
of the collateral economic benefits arising from the project. Thus, Count 16 of the Amended
Complaint should be dismissed.

F. The Plaintiffs Lack Standing to Assert Equal Protection Claims Against the Local
Government Defendants.

In their brief, the Local Defendants established that none of the Plaintiffs has standing to
assert an equal protection challenge to the local economic development incentives. See Defs.’
Br. at 17-18. As the Local Defendants demonstrated, none of the Plaintiffs fall within the class
of those adversely affected by the Resolutions, namely, those who “creat[e] new jobs or expand[]
businesses in the Winston-Salem, Forsyth County area.” (Am. Compl., § 119.) Relying solely
on Powers v. Ohio, 499 U.S. 400 (1991), the Plaintiffs contend that they fall within an exception
to the standing requirement, because “the members of the class subject to the alleged
discrimination are not in a position to raise the constitutional question.” Pls.” Br. at 39. This
argument is without merit. In Powers, the United States Supreme Court held that a white

-12-



defendant in a criminal trial could challenge a black juror’s exclusion from the jury, because as a
practical matter the black juror would lack the incentive and capability to protect his own
interests. Powers, 499 U.S. at 414. This reasoning plainly does not apply here. The Court may
take judicial notice of the myriad of businesses located within Forsyth County and Winston-
Salem that fall within the class that the Plaintiffs allege is disadvantaged—Dbusinesses that
“creat[e] new jobs or expand[] businesses in the Winston-Salem, Forsyth County area.” (Am.
Compl., 1 119.) The Plaintiffs cite not a single case supporting their assertion that an individual
taxpayer can rely on Powers to litigate on behalf of sophisticated businesses.

Subsequent cases indicate that third-party standing under Powers is quite limited and
narrowly construed. The Fourth Circuit recently rejected third-party standing in a case where the
plaintiff claimed other claimants were hindered from asserting claims. In Freilich v. Upper
Chesapeake Health, Inc., 313 F.3d 205 (4th Cir. 2002), a doctor sued a hospital for terminating
her staff privileges as a result, she alleged, of her complaints to improve the care of dialysis
patients. She also brought an Americans with Disabilities Act claim on behalf of the same
patients, arguing that the hospital failed to provide proper oversight and quality assurance. Id. at
214. The doctor claimed that she could assert the claims on the patients’ behalf under Powers,
because the “dialysis patients are disabled and chronically ill, foreclosing them from presenting
their own rights.” 1d. at 215. The Fourth Circuit, assuming arguendo that the first two prongs of
the Powers test were met, rejected the doctor’s standing claim because she “did not sufficiently
allege a hindrance to her patients’ ability to protect their own interests.” 1d. The Fourth Circuit
found that “we cannot simply assume that every disabled or chronically ill person is incapable of
asserting his or her own claims.” 1d. Rather, the Fourth Circuit found that it was best to “adhere

to the longstanding principle that ‘third parties themselves usually will be the best proponents of
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their own rights.”” Id. (quoting Singleton v. Wulff, 428 U.S. 106, 114 (1976)). Similarly, this
Court cannot assume that businesses in Forsyth County are incapable of protecting their own
interests. For these reasons, Count 16 of the Amended Complaint must be dismissed.

G. The Non-Profit Defendants Are Not Necessary Parties And Must Be Dismissed As A
Matter of Law.

In their brief, the Local Defendants argued that the claims against the Non-Profit
Defendants should be dismissed for two independent reasons: (1) the complaint is devoid of
facts sufficient to state a claim against them under N.C. R. Civ. P. 8 and (2) pursuant to
established precedent, private parties cannot be sued for violations of the North Carolina
Constitution. See Defs.” Br. at 28-31. The Plaintiffs responded to neither argument in their
brief, apparently conceding that the substantive claims—Counts 6 and 16 through 21—against
the Non-Profit Defendants should be dismissed.

The only argument actually advanced by the Plaintiffs is that the Non-Profit Defendants
are essential to Count 22, the declaratory judgment claim, because “a valid judgment cannot be
entered in the action which would completely and finally determine the controversy, without [the
Non-Profit Defendants’] presence as a party.” PIs.” Br. at 109-111. But neither the Amended
Complaint nor the Plaintiffs” brief alleges a factual basis for this assertion. Although the Non-
Profit Defendants are parties to the agreement with Dell, the Amended Complaint does not
challenge as unlawful any of their actions; rather, it alleges the invalidity solely of the benefits
provided by the City and County. In the event that the Plaintiffs prevail in this litigation, there
appears to be no reason why complete relief could not be granted without the involvement of the
Non-Profit Defendants.

N.C. Monroe Construction Co. v. Guilford County Board of Education, 278 N.C. 633,
180 S.E.2d 818 (1971), on which the Plaintiffs rely (Pls.” Br. at 111), is not to the contrary. The
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Plaintiffs assert that N.C. Monroe Construction holds that litigation regarding the validity of a
contract makes all parties to such contract necessary parties under the Declaratory Judgment Act.
But that case merely holds that parties to a contract are necessary only where their rights would
be adversely affected or where the validity of the contract cannot be determined in the parties’
absence. Id. at 640, 180 S.E.2d at 822. Neither circumstance is present here. There is no
allegation that the Non-Profit Defendants’ rights would be affected or that the validity of the
Agreement as to Dell and the City and County could not be determined in their absence.
Therefore, all the claims against the Non-Profit Defendants, including the declaratory judgment
claim, should be dismissed.

H. Counts 6 and 20 Should Be Dismissed Because The Plaintiffs Failed Even to Address
the Defendants’ Arguments for Dismissal.

The Local Defendants argued (Defs.” Br. at 27) that the Plaintiffs could not, as a matter
of law, assert a claim for violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983 against the Local Defendants, because a
claim under § 1983 arises only for violations of federal law, and the Amended Complaint does
not allege that the Local Defendants violated federal law. Moreover, the Local Defendants
argued (Defs.” Br. at 22) that the Plaintiffs failed to state a claim against them for violating
Article V, Section 7 of the North Carolina Constitution, because the local incentives were
authorized by duly enacted Resolutions of the City Council and Board of Commissioners. The
Plaintiffs did not contest these arguments and therefore Counts 6 and 20, respectively, should be
dismissed.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, and for the reasons set forth in the Local Defendants’ opening
brief, all claims alleged against the Local Government Defendants and the Non-Profit
Defendants should be dismissed with prejudice.

This the 17th day of April, 2006.
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doing so in the future and should be enjoined to take whatever
action is necessary to reimburse the public treasury for all funds
which they have expended in violation of Article V, Section 2 of
the Constitution of North Carolina and Section 158-7.1 of the

General Statutes of North Carolina.
WHEREFORE, the plaintiff respectfully prays the court:

1. That the defendants be enjoined from further
violations of the Constitution of North Carolina by making grants
or expenditures under the so called economic incentive plans of the

City and the County;

2. That the City and County be enjoined to recover all
such illegal expenditures, plus interest, from the recipients

thereof;

3. That Winston-Salem Business, Inc. be required to
reimburse the City and County for all expenditures made by fhe City
and County in connection with economic incentive projects arranged
by Winston-Salem Business, Inc. at the expense of the public

treasury;

4, That any issues of fact be tried to a jury;
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5. That the costs of this action be taxed against the

defendants, including reasonable attorneys fees; and

6. That the court enter such other and further orders

as may be just and proper.

This the éz day of February, 1995.

QNI G

WILLIAM F. MAREADY\\
Pro Se

370 Knollwood Street, Suite 600
Winston-Salem, North Carolina 27103
Telephone: (910) 631-8500

Telecopy: (910) 631-6999
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EXHIBIT A

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT INCENTIVE GUIDELINE

‘Eligible Uses

Industrial or commercial projects either relocating to or
expanding within the City of Winston-Salem. Retail projects

are not eligible.

staff investigation to determine if City involvement is
actually necessary to cause the project to go forward in
Winston-Salem.

If City involvement is determined to be necessary, staff
attempts to structure incentive package with minimum
amount of City involvement.

staff investigates financial stability -of company and
structures agreement with performance commitments from
company as to investment and numbers of jobs to be

created.

staff calculates expected return on investment and
presents project to Board.

Calculatjion of Incentive lLevels

1.

Multiply the amount of annual property tax and annual
sales tax revenue received by the City by 7 to determine
the maximum amount of subsidy. (Note: If the tax value
is heavily dependent on equipment, the calculation will
take into consideration the effect of depreciation on tax

revenues).

The maximum anmount of sﬁbsidy is then adjusted by

applying the following wage factors:

a. If average hourly wage is less than $6.00/hour,
with benefits, multiply the base subsidy by 25%.

b. If average hourly’wage 1s less than4$7.00, but more
than $6.00, multiply base by 50%, provided average
rises to $7.00/hour or more, with benefits, within




C.

EXHIBIT A, Continued

12 months.

If average hourly wage is less than $8.00, but more
than $7.00, multiply the base by 75%.

If average hourly wage is less than $9.00, but more
than $8.00,’ “multiply the base by 90%.

If the average is between '$9. 00 and $10 00,
multiply the base by 100%.

If the average wage is over $10.00, multiply the
base by 100% plus an additional 10% for each $1.00
over $10.00 up to $15.00.

agditiongl Factors A
All incentives. are subject to availability of funds.

1.

2. -

fThe Board of Aldermen is not compitted to provide funds

for every project, even if it meets the minimum
guidelines.

' The Board of Aldermen at its discretion may decide that
‘a project may warrant incentives over and above the

guidelines in cases such ag growth potential of company,
type of company, potential for company to create or
attract “spin-off" business, etc. _




THROUGH ITS ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM

EXHIBIT B

REP\._;T ON ACTUAL INVESTMEN'l X
COMPANIES ASSISTED BY CITY OF WINSTON-SALEM

PRIVATE INCENTIVES

- JOBS INVESTMENT APPROVED/

COMPANY FLANNED/ACTUAL ~ PLANNED/ACTUAL PAID TO DATE
(D

ILee Company 500 840 $10,000,000 | § 12,000,000 | § 880,000 | § 880,000

(8/91)

Somar, Inc. 207 196 600,000 1,900,000 20,000 20,000

(10/91) :

Cluett Corp. 9 | 180 2,000,000 | 3,500,000 | 20,000 | 20,000

(3/91) '

)
Champion _
Products (1/92) | 240 350° 3,500,000 6,000,000 100,000 50,000
73,000 sq.£t. | 90,000 sqt.

Southern (3

National Bank 203 289 473,500 255,000

(11/92)

Pepsi (3/93) 4
Phase I 200 140 4,000,000 11,000,000 500,000 350,000
Phase I 500 N/A 10,000,000 | N/A
Phase I 1000 N/A 20,000,000 | N/A
| (est.)

Siecor (3/93) 250 N/A 30,000,000 32,000,000 | 1,233,000 { 1,114,963

' (118%) (133%)
Totals 1,690 | 1,995(5) | 50,100,000 | $ 66,400,000 | $3,226,500 | $2,689,963
NOTES
(1) $800,000 is cost of new road. This road also serves Cluett, Amp and Siecor.
(2) Includes recently announced job reductions.
(3) It is likely that the entire $473,500 will not be needed
(4) The $350,000 reflects the achievement of 709 of phase I job goals.
(5) Does not include expected jobs from Siecor because plant has not opened. If Siecor jobs are

included, the total number of new jobs will be 2,245 ar 133% of the goal.
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